# **AGENCY AGREEMENT**

## **DATED 1 DECEMBER 2021**

Between

## LIFETRI GROEP B.V.

and

## THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH

Issue of EUR 80,000,000 Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032

ALLEN & OVERY
ALLEN & OVERY LLP
AMSTERDAM

## **CONTENTS**

Clau	ise	Page
1.	Interpretation	3
2.	Appointment and Duties	
3.	Authentication, effectuation and delivery of Notes	6
4.	Payment to the Fiscal Agent	7
5.	Notification of Non-payment by the Issuer	8
6.	Duties of the Paying Agents	8
7.	Reimbursement of the Paying Agents	9
8.	Notice of any Withholding or Deduction	9
9.	Duties of the Fiscal Agent in connection with Redemption	10
10.	Receipt and Publication of Notices	10
11.	Cancellation of Notes and Coupons	10
12.	Issue of Replacement Notes and Coupons	10
13.	Records and Certificates	11
14.	Copies of this Agreement Available for Inspection	12
15.	Commissions and Expenses	12
16.	Indemnity	13
17.	Repayment by Fiscal Agent	14
18.	Conditions of Appointment	14
19.	Communication with Paying Agents	16
20.	Termination of Appointment	16
21.	Meetings of Noteholders	18
22.	Communications	19
23.	Amendments	20
24.	Taxes and Stamp Duties	20
25.	Counterparts	20
26.	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	20
Signa	atories	21
Sche	edules	
Sche	edule 1	22
Form	ns of the Global Notes	22
Form	n of Definitive Note, Coupon and Talon	34
Sche	edule 2	38
Term	ns and Conditions of the Notes	38
	edule 3	
Provi	isions for Meetings of Noteholders	39
	edule 4	
Addi	itional Duties of the Fiscal Agent	46

#### THIS AGREEMENT is made on 1 December 2021

#### **BETWEEN**:

- (1) **LIFETRI GROEP B.V.**, a private limited liability company (besloten vennootschap) incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands whose registered office is at Bisonspoor 3002, 3605 LT Maarssen, the Netherlands (the **Issuer**); and
- (2) THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH (the Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent).

#### WHEREAS:

- (A) The Issuer proposes to issue EUR 80,000,000 Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032 (the **Notes**) which expression shall include, unless the context otherwise requires, any further Notes issued pursuant to Condition 12 and forming a single series with the Notes.
- (B) The Notes will be issued in bearer form and in denominations of EUR 100,000 and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof, up to (and including) EUR 199,000. The Notes will initially be in the form of a temporary global Note (the **Temporary Global Note**), interests in which will be exchangeable for interests in a permanent global Note (the **Permanent Global Note** and together with the Temporary Global Note, the **Global Notes** and each a **Global Note**) in the circumstances specified in the Temporary Global Note. The Permanent Global Note will in turn be exchangeable for Notes in definitive form (**Definitive Notes**), with interest coupons (**Coupons**), and talons for further Coupons (**Talons**) attached, only in certain limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note.

#### 1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 Terms defined in the offering memorandum relating to the Notes dated 29 November 2021 (the **Offering Memorandum**) have the same meanings in this Agreement except where otherwise defined in this Agreement. In addition:

**Agents** means and includes each Paying Agent and Calculation Agent from time to time appointed to exercise the powers and undertake the duties conferred and imposed upon it by this Agreement and notified to the Noteholders under Clause 20;

**Conditions** means the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as set out in Schedule 2 hereto and **Condition** means a clause of those terms and conditions;

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking, S.A.;

**Electronic Means** shall mean the following communications methods: (i) non-secure methods of transmission or communication such as e-mail and facsimile transmission and (ii) secure electronic transmission containing applicable authorisation codes, passwords and/or authentication keys issued by the Agents, or another method or system specified by the Agents as available for use in connection with its services hereunder;

Euroclear means Euroclear Bank SA/NV;

**FATCA Withholding** means any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the Code or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (or any regulations thereunder or official

interpretations thereof) or an intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction facilitating the implementation thereof (or any law implementing such an intergovernmental agreement);

outstanding means in relation to the Notes all the Notes issued other than:

- (a) those Notes which have been redeemed and cancelled pursuant to Condition 4 or otherwise pursuant to the Conditions;
- (b) those Notes in respect of which the date for redemption under the Conditions has occurred and the redemption moneys wherefore (including all interest payable thereon) have been duly paid to the Fiscal Agent in the manner provided in Clause 4 and 5 (and, where appropriate, notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders under Condition 10) and remain available for payment of the relevant Notes and/or Coupons;
- (c) those Notes which have been purchased and cancelled under Condition 4;
- (d) those Notes which or in respect of which claims for payment have become void under Condition 5 and 7;
- (e) those mutilated or defaced Notes which have been surrendered and in respect of which replacements have been issued pursuant to Condition 11;
- (f) (for the purpose only of ascertaining the principal amount of the Notes outstanding and without prejudice to the status for any other purpose of the relevant Notes) those Notes which are alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed and in respect of which replacements have been issued pursuant to Condition 11; and
- (g) the Temporary Global Note to the extent that it has been duly exchanged for the Permanent Global Note and the Permanent Global Note to the extent that it has been exchanged for the Definitive Notes in each case pursuant to their respective provisions,

provided that for each of the following purposes, namely:

- (i) the right to attend and vote at any meeting of the Noteholders; and
- (ii) the determination of how many and which Notes are for the time being outstanding for the purposes of paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 of Schedule 3,

those Notes (if any) which are for the time being held by any person (including but not limited to, the Issuer) for the benefit of the Issuer shall (unless and until ceasing to be so held) be deemed not to remain outstanding;

**Paying Agents** means the Fiscal Agent and any additional paying agents or agent appointed hereunder;

**Sanctions** means any sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury (**OFAC**), the U.S. State Department, any other agency of the US government, the United Nations, the European Union or Her Majesty's Treasury or any applicable equivalent sanctions authority;

**specified office** means the offices specified in Clause 22 or any other specified offices as may from time to time be duly notified pursuant to Clause 22;

**Subsidiary** means a subsidiary of the Issuer within the meaning of Section 2:24a of the Dutch Civil Code; and

**successor** means, in relation to any person, an assignee or successor in title of such person who, under the law of its jurisdiction of incorporation or domicile, has assumed the rights and obligations of such person under this Agreement or to which under such laws the same have been transferred.

- 1.2 (a) In this Agreement, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to:
  - (i) an **amendment** includes a supplement, restatement or novation and **amended** is to be construed accordingly;
  - (ii) a **person** includes any individual, company, unincorporated association, government, state agency, international organisation or other entity, and in all cases includes it successors and assigns;
  - (iii) the **records** of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg shall be the records that each of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg holds for its customers which reflect the amount of such customer's interest in the Notes;
  - (iv) a provision of a law is a reference to that provision as extended, amended or re-enacted;
  - (v) a clause or schedule is a reference to a clause of, or a schedule to, this Agreement;
  - (vi) a document is a reference to that document as amended from time to time; and
  - (vii) a time of day is a reference to Amsterdam time;
  - (b) The headings in this Agreement do not affect its interpretation;
  - (c) All references in this Agreement to costs or charges or expenses shall include any value added tax or similar tax charged or chargeable in respect thereof;
  - (d) All references in this Agreement to Notes shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include any Global Note representing the Notes; and
  - (e) Unless the context otherwise requires, any reference to EU legislation, regulatory requirement, or guidance should be read as a reference to that EU legislation, regulatory requirement or guidance as it forms part of UK domestic law pursuant to the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (as amended) (the EUWA) or as otherwise adopted under, or given effect to in, UK legislation or the UK regulatory regime (UK Onshored Legislation, Regulatory Requirement, or Guidance) and any references to EU competent authorities should be read as references to the relevant UK competent authority. All references to legislation, regulatory requirements or guidance in this clause refer to the relevant legislation, regulatory requirements or guidance as amended from time to time.

#### 2. APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES

## 2.1 The Issuer hereby appoints:

- (a) The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as the Fiscal Agent in respect of the Notes and in accordance with the Conditions at its specified office referred to in the Conditions and the Fiscal Agent hereby agrees to such appointment. The Fiscal Agent shall perform the duties required of it by the Conditions and this Agreement; and
- (b) The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as the Calculation Agent and as Paying Agent in respect of the Notes, on the terms of this Agreement, and the Calculation Agent and Paying Agent hereby agrees to such appointment. The Calculation Agent and Paying Agent shall perform the duties required of it by the Conditions and this Agreement, in each case acting at its specified office.
- 2.2 Without prejudice to the generality of Clause 2.1(a), the Fiscal Agent undertakes to the Issuer that it will, in connection with the issue of the Notes, perform the duties which are stated to be performed by it in Schedule 4. Each of the Paying Agents, if any, (other than the Fiscal Agent) agrees that if any information that is required by the Fiscal Agent to perform the duties set out in Schedule 4 becomes known to it, it will promptly provide such information to the Fiscal Agent.
- 2.3 The Issuer hereby authorises and instructs the Fiscal Agent to elect The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as common safekeeper. The Issuer acknowledges that any such election is subject to the right of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to jointly determine that the other shall act as common safekeeper and agrees that no liability shall attach to the Fiscal Agent in respect of any such election made by it.
- 2.4 Nothing in this Agreement shall require any Agent to assume an obligation of the Issuer arising under any provision of the listing, prospectus, disclosure or transparency rules (or equivalent rules of any competent authority).
- 2.5 The obligations and duties of the Agents under this Agreement shall be several and not joint. For the avoidance of doubt, article 7:407 of the Dutch Civil Code shall not apply.

## 3. AUTHENTICATION, EFFECTUATION AND DELIVERY OF NOTES

- 3.1 The Issuer undertakes that the Temporary Global Note (duly executed on behalf of the Issuer) will be available to be exchanged for interests in the Permanent Global Note in accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note.
- 3.2 If a Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged in accordance with its terms for Definitive Notes, the Issuer undertakes that it will deliver to, or to the order of, the Fiscal Agent, as soon as reasonable practicable and in any event not later than 30 calendar days before the relevant exchange is due to take place, Definitive Notes (with Coupons and Talons attached) in an aggregate principal amount of EUR 80,000,000 or such lesser amount as is the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note. Each Definitive Note and Coupon so delivered shall be duly executed on behalf of the Issuer.
- 3.3 The Issuer authorises and instructs the Fiscal Agent to (i) authenticate the Global Notes and any Definitive Notes delivered pursuant to subclause 3.2, (ii) transmit such Global Notes electronically to the common safekeeper and to give effectuation instructions in respect of the Global Notes following its authentication thereof and (iii) instruct Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to make the appropriate entries in their records to reflect the initial outstanding

aggregate principal amount of the Notes. The Issuer further authorises and instructs the Fiscal Agent to destroy each Global Note retained by it following its receipt of confirmation from the common safekeeper that the relevant Global Note has been effectuated.

- 3.4 The Issuer authorises and instructs the Fiscal Agent to (i) cause interests in the Temporary Global Note to be exchanged for interests in the Permanent Global Note and interests in a Permanent Global Note to be exchanged for Definitive Notes in accordance with their respective terms and (ii) instruct Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to make appropriate entries in their records to reflect such exchanges. Following the exchange of the last interest in a Permanent Global Note, the Fiscal Agent shall cause the Permanent Global Note to be cancelled or destroyed.
- 3.5 The Fiscal Agent shall cause all Notes delivered to and held by it under this Agreement to be maintained in safekeeping and shall ensure that interests in the Temporary Global Note are only exchanged for interests in the Permanent Global Note in accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note and this Agreement and that the Definitive Notes are issued only in accordance with the terms of a Global Note and this Agreement.
- 3.6 So long as any of the Notes is outstanding, the Fiscal Agent shall, within seven calendar days of any request by the Issuer, certify to the Issuer the number of Definitive Notes held by it, if any, under this Agreement.
- 3.7 The Issuer will ensure that proceeds raised in connection with the issue of the Notes will not directly or indirectly be lent, contributed or otherwise made available by it or any of its subsidiaries, directors or officers, to any person or entity (whether or not related to the Issuer) for the purpose of financing the activities of any person or entity the subject or target of any Sanctions or for the benefit of any country or territory currently the subject or target of any Sanctions or in any other manner that will result in a violation by any person of Sanctions and as if those Sanctions applied to the Issuer.
- 3.8 Neither the Issuer, any of the Issuer's subsidiaries nor, to the best of the knowledge of the Issuer, after due and careful enquiry, any directors, officers, agents, employees or other person acting on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries are (i) currently the subject of any Sanctions or (ii) have any business or financial dealings with any person on OFAC's Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List or equivalent list relating to Sanctions, (iii) owned 50% or more by or otherwise controlled by, or acting on behalf of, one or more persons that are the subject of any Sanctions (iv) located organised or resident in a country or territory that is subject to Sanctions, nor (v) conducting business with any person, entity or country which is the subject of any Sanctions.

The representations and undertakings included under Clause 3.7 and 3.8 above shall not be made to the extent that those provisions would result in a violation of (i) Council Regulation (EC) 2271/96 of 22 November 1996 and/or any associated and applicable national law, instrument or regulation related thereto or (ii) Council Regulation (EC) No 2271/96 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018.

## 4. PAYMENT TO THE FISCAL AGENT

4.1 The Issuer shall, not later than 2.00 p.m. (London time) on the business day prior to each date on which any payment of principal and/or interest in respect of any of the Notes becomes due under the Conditions, transfer to an account specified sufficiently in advance by the Fiscal Agent such amount of euro as shall be sufficient for the purposes of the payment of principal and/or interest in immediately available funds.

- 4.2 The Issuer shall ensure that, not later than 2:00 p.m. (London time) on the third London Business Day immediately preceding the date on which any payment is to be made to the Fiscal Agent pursuant to subclause 4.1, the Fiscal Agent shall receive a copy of an irrevocable payment instruction to the bank through which the payment is to be made. For the purposes of this subclause 4.2, **London Business Day** means a day on which banks are open for business in London.
- 4.3 If, the Issuer determines in its sole discretion that it will be required to withhold or deduct any FATCA Withholding in connection with any payment due on any Notes, then the Issuer will be entitled to re-direct or reorganise any such payment in any way that it sees fit in order that the payment may be made without FATCA Withholding provided that any such re-direction or reorganisation of any payment is made through a recognised institution of international standing and such payment is otherwise made in accordance with this Agreement.

#### 5. NOTIFICATION OF NON-PAYMENT BY THE ISSUER

The Fiscal Agent shall notify each of the other Paying Agents, if any, forthwith:

- (a) if it has not by the relevant date specified in subclause 4.1 received unconditionally the full amount in euro required for the payment; and
- (b) if it receives unconditionally the full amount of any sum due in respect of the Notes or Coupons after such date.

The Fiscal Agent shall, at the expense of the Issuer, forthwith upon receipt of any amount as described in subparagraph (b), cause notice of that receipt to be published under Condition 10.

## 6. DUTIES OF THE PAYING AGENTS

- 6.1 Subject to the payments to the Fiscal Agent provided for by Clause 4 being duly made and the Fiscal Agent having been able to identify or confirm receipt of such funds, the Paying Agents, if any, shall act as paying agents of the Issuer in respect of the Notes and pay or cause to be paid on behalf of the Issuer, on each date on which any payment becomes due and payable, the amounts of principal and/or interest then payable under the Conditions and this Agreement. If any payment provided for by Clause 4 is made late but otherwise in accordance with the terms of this Agreement the Paying Agents, if any, shall nevertheless act as paying agents following receipt by them of payment.
- 6.2 If the Issuer defaults in respect of any payment, unless and until the full amount of the payment has been made under the terms of this Agreement (except as to the time of making the same) or other arrangements satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent have been made, neither the Fiscal Agent nor any of the other Paying Agents, if any, shall be bound to act as paying agents. If for any reason the Agent considers in its reasonable discretion that the amounts to be received by it will be, or the amounts actually received by it are, insufficient to satisfy all claims in respect of all payments then falling due in respect of the Notes, no Paying Agent shall be obliged to pay any such claims until the Agent has received the full amount of all such payments.
- 6.3 Without prejudice to subclauses 6.1 and 6.2, if the Fiscal Agent pays any amounts to the Noteholders (or holders of Coupons) or to any other Paying Agent at a time when it has not received payment in full in respect of the Notes in accordance with subclause 4.1 (the excess of the amounts so paid over the amounts so received being the **Shortfall**), the Issuer will, in addition to paying amounts due under subclause 4.1, pay to the Fiscal Agent on demand

interest (at a rate which represents the Fiscal Agent's reasonable and reasonable cost of funding the Shortfall) on the Shortfall (or the unreimbursed portion thereof) until the receipt in full by the Fiscal Agent of the Shortfall.

- Whilst any Notes are represented by a Global Note, all payments due in respect of the Notes shall be made to, or to the order of, the holder of the Global Note, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Global Note. On the occasion of each payment, the Fiscal Agent shall instruct Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to make the appropriate entries in their records to reflect such payment.
- 6.5 If on presentation for endorsement of a Note or presentation of a Coupon the amount payable in respect of the Note or Coupon is not paid in full (otherwise than as a result of withholding or deduction for or on account of any taxes as permitted by the Conditions) the Paying Agent to whom the Note or Coupon is presented shall procure that the Note or Coupon is enfaced with a memorandum of the amount paid and the date of payment.

#### 7. REIMBURSEMENT OF THE PAYING AGENTS

The Fiscal Agent shall charge the account referred to in Clause 4 for all payments made by it under this Agreement and will credit or transfer to the respective accounts of the other Paying Agents, if any, the amount of all payments made by them under the Conditions immediately upon notification from them, subject in each case to any applicable laws or regulations.

## 8. NOTICE OF ANY WITHHOLDING OR DEDUCTION

- 8.1 Each party shall, within ten business days of a written request by another party, supply to that other party such forms, documentation and other information relating to it, its operations, or the Notes as that other party reasonably requests for the purposes of that other party's compliance with Applicable Law and shall notify the relevant other party reasonably promptly in the event that it becomes aware that any of the forms, documentation or other information provided by such party is (or becomes) inaccurate in any material respect; provided, however, that no party shall be required to provide any forms, documentation or other information pursuant to this Clause 8 to the extent that: (i) any such form, documentation or other information (or the information required to be provided on such form or documentation) is not reasonably available to such party and cannot be obtained by such party using reasonable efforts; or (ii) doing so would or might in the reasonable opinion of such party constitute a breach of any: (a) Applicable Law; (b) fiduciary duty; or (c) duty of confidentiality. For purposes of this Clause 8 (a) Applicable Law means any law or regulation including, but not limited to: (i) any statute or regulation; (ii) any rule or practice of any Authority by which any party is bound or with which it is accustomed to comply; (iii) any agreement between any Authorities; and (iv) any customary agreement between any Authority and any party; and (b) Authority means any competent regulatory, prosecuting, tax or governmental authority in any jurisdiction.
- 8.2 If the Issuer is, in respect of any payment in respect of the Notes, compelled to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of any taxes as contemplated by Condition 6, the Issuer shall give notice to the Fiscal Agent as soon as it becomes aware of the requirement to make the withholding or deduction and shall give to the Fiscal Agent such information as the Fiscal Agent shall require to enable it to comply with the requirement.
- 8.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, each Agent shall be entitled to make a deduction or withholding from any payment which it makes under this Agreement for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or government charges if and to the extent so required by Applicable Law, in which event the Agent shall make such payment

after such withholding or deduction has been made and shall account to the relevant authorities for the amount so withheld or deducted, or, at its option, shall reasonably promptly after making such payment return to the Issuer the amount so deducted or withheld, in which case, the Issuer shall so account to the relevant Authority for such amount.

## 9. DUTIES OF THE FISCAL AGENT IN CONNECTION WITH REDEMPTION

- 9.1 If the Issuer intends to redeem, pursuant to Condition 4, all of the Notes for the time being outstanding it shall give not more than 45 nor less than 30 days' prior notice of its intention to the Fiscal Agent and the Calculation Agent, if required, stating the date on which such Notes are to be redeemed, and the Fiscal Agent shall so advise any other Paying Agent, if any.
- 9.2 The Fiscal Agent shall instruct Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to make appropriate entries in their records in respect of all Notes redeemed by the Issuer to reflect such redemptions.

## 10. RECEIPT AND PUBLICATION OF NOTICES

- 10.1 On behalf of and at the request and expense of the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent shall cause to be published all notices required to be given by the Issuer under the Conditions.
- While all the Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is deposited with a common safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, any obligation the Issuer (and the Fiscal Agent on its behalf) may have to publish a notice to Noteholders shall have been met upon delivery of the notice to the Euroclear and/or Clearstream.
- 10.3 Forthwith upon receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a notice from any Noteholder, the Fiscal Agent shall forward a copy thereof to the Issuer.

## 11. CANCELLATION OF NOTES AND COUPONS

- 11.1 All Notes which are surrendered in connection with purchase by the Issuer, (together with all unmatured Coupons attached to or delivered with the Notes) and all Coupons which are paid shall be cancelled by the Paying Agent to which they are surrendered. Each of the Paying Agents shall give to the Fiscal Agent details of all payments made by it and shall deliver all cancelled Notes and Coupons to the Fiscal Agent (or as the Fiscal Agent may specify). If the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer purchases any Notes which are to be cancelled after such purchase, the Issuer shall forthwith cancel them or procure their cancellation through the Fiscal Agent.
- 11.2 The Fiscal Agent or its authorised agent shall (unless otherwise instructed by the Issuer in writing and save as provided in subclause 13.1) destroy all cancelled Notes and Coupons and furnish the Issuer with a certificate of destruction containing written particulars of the serial numbers of the Notes and the number by maturity date of Coupons so destroyed.

## 12. ISSUE OF REPLACEMENT NOTES AND COUPONS

- 12.1 The Issuer shall cause a sufficient quantity of additional forms of Notes and Coupons to be available, upon request, to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office for the purpose of issuing replacement Notes or Coupons as provided below.
- 12.2 The Fiscal Agent shall, subject to and in accordance with Condition 11 and the following provisions of this Clause, cause to be authenticated (in the case only of replacement Notes)

- and delivered any replacement Notes or Coupons which the Issuer may determine to issue in place of Notes or Coupons which have been lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed.
- 12.3 In the case of a mutilated or defaced Note, the Fiscal Agent shall ensure that (unless otherwise covered by such indemnity as the Issuer may require) any replacement Note only has attached to it Coupons corresponding to those attached to the mutilated or defaced Note which is presented for replacement.
- 12.4 The Fiscal Agent shall obtain verification, in the case of an allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note or Coupon in respect of which the serial number is known, that the Note or Coupon has not previously been redeemed or paid. The Fiscal Agent shall not issue a replacement Note or Coupon unless and until the applicant has:
  - (a) paid such expenses and costs as may be incurred in connection with the replacement;
  - (b) furnished it with such evidence and indemnity as the Fiscal Agent and Issuer may reasonably require; and
  - (c) in the case of a mutilated or defaced Note or Coupon, surrendered it to the Fiscal Agent.
- 12.5 The Fiscal Agent shall cancel mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons in respect of which replacement Notes or Coupons have been issued pursuant to this Clause. The Fiscal Agent shall furnish the Issuer with a certificate stating the serial numbers of the Notes or Coupons received by it and cancelled pursuant to this Clause and shall, unless otherwise requested by the Issuer, destroy all those Notes and Coupons and furnish the Issuer with a destruction certificate containing the information specified in subclause 11.2.
- 12.6 The Fiscal Agent shall, on issuing any replacement Note or Coupon, forthwith inform the Issuer and the other Paying Agents of the serial number of the replacement Note or Coupon issued and (if known) of the serial number of the Note or Coupon in place of which the replacement Note or Coupon has been issued. Whenever replacement Coupons are issued under this Clause, the Fiscal Agent shall also notify the other Paying Agents, if any, of the maturity dates of the lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed Coupons and of the replacement Coupons issued.
- 12.7 Whenever a Note or Coupon for which a replacement Note or Coupon has been issued and the serial number of which is known is presented to a Paying Agent for payment, the relevant Paying Agent shall immediately send notice to the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent.

#### 13. RECORDS AND CERTIFICATES

- 13.1 The Fiscal Agent shall (a) keep a full and complete record of all Notes and Coupons (other than serial numbers of Coupons) and of their redemption, cancellation or payment (as the case may be) and of all replacement Notes or Coupons issued in substitution for lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed Notes or Coupons and (b) in respect of the Coupons of each maturity, retain until the expiry of five years from the relevant date in respect of the Coupons either all paid Coupons of that maturity or a list of the serial numbers of Coupons of that maturity still remaining unpaid. The Fiscal Agent shall at all times during normal business hours make the records and Coupons (if any) available to the Issuer.
- 13.2 The Fiscal Agent shall (i) instruct Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to make appropriate entries in their records to reflect all cancellations of Notes represented by a Global Note in accordance with Clause 13.1 above and (ii) give to the Issuer, as soon as

possible and in any event within four months after the date of redemption, purchase, payment or replacement of a Note or Coupon (as the case may be), a certificate stating (a) the aggregate nominal amount of Notes which have been redeemed and the aggregate amount in respect of Coupons which have been paid, (b) the serial numbers of those Definitive Notes, if any; (c) the total number of each denomination by maturity date of those Coupons, (d) the aggregate nominal amounts of Notes (if any) which have been purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and cancelled (subject to delivery of the Notes to the Fiscal Agent) and the serial numbers of such Definitive Notes and the total number of each denomination by maturity date of the Coupons attached to or surrendered with the purchased Notes, (e) the aggregate nominal amounts of Notes and the aggregate amounts in respect of Coupons which have been surrendered and replaced and the serial numbers of those Definitive Notes and the total number of each denomination by maturity date of those Coupons surrendered therewith and (f) the total number of each denomination by maturity date of unmatured Coupons missing from Notes which have been redeemed or surrendered and replaced and the serial numbers of the Notes in definitive form to which the missing unmatured Coupons appertained.

13.3 The Fiscal Agent shall only be required to comply with its obligations under this Clause 13 in respect of Notes surrendered for cancellation following a purchase of the same by the Issuer or by any of its Subsidiaries to the extent that it has been informed by the Issuer of such purchases in accordance with Clause11.1 above.

#### 14. COPIES OF THIS AGREEMENT AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

The Paying Agents shall hold copies of this Agreement and any other documents expressed to be held by them in the Offering Memorandum available for inspection or collection or may be provided by email following prior written request to such agents and provision of holding and identity in satisfactory form. For this purpose, the Issuer shall furnish the Paying Agents with sufficient copies of such document.

## 15. COMMISSIONS AND EXPENSES

- 15.1 The Issuer shall pay to the Fiscal Agent such fees and commissions in respect of the services of the Agents under this Agreement as shall be agreed between the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent. The Issuer shall not be concerned with the apportionment of payment among the Agents.
- 15.2 The Issuer shall also pay to the Fiscal Agent an amount equal to any value added tax which may be payable in respect of the commissions together with all out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by the Paying Agents in connection with their services under this Agreement.
- 15.3 The Fiscal Agent shall arrange for payment of the commissions due to the other Paying Agents, if any, and arrange for the reimbursement of their expenses promptly after receipt of the relevant moneys from the Issuer.
- 15.4 The fees, commissions and expenses payable to the Fiscal Agent for services rendered and the performance of its or any other Agent's obligations under this Agreement shall not be abated by any remuneration or other amounts or profits receivable by the Fiscal Agent (or to its knowledge by any of its associates) in connection with any transaction effected by the Fiscal Agent with or for the Issuer.
- 15.5 At the request of the Fiscal Agent, the parties to this Agreement may from time to time during the continuance of this Agreement review the commissions agreed initially pursuant to

subclause 15.1 with a view to determining whether the parties can mutually agree upon any changes to the commissions.

#### 16. INDEMNITY

- 16.1 The Issuer undertakes to indemnify each of the Agents against all losses, liabilities, costs, claims, actions, damages, expenses (including, without limitation, legal fees and any applicable value added tax) or demands which any of them may incur or which may be made against any of them as a result of or in connection with the appointment of or the exercise of the powers and duties by any Agent under this Agreement except as may result from the relevant Agent's own negligence, wilful misconduct and fraud or that of its directors, officers or employees or any of them.
- 16.2 Each of the Agents undertakes to severally indemnify the Issuer against all losses, liabilities, costs, claims, actions, damages, expenses or demands which the Issuer may incur or which may be made against the Issuer as a result of negligence, wilful misconduct and fraud of the relevant Agent or that of the directors, officers or employees of the relevant Agent.
- 16.3 Any Agent will only be liable to the Issuer for losses, liabilities, costs, expenses and demands arising directly from the performance of its obligations under this Agreement suffered by or occasioned to the Issuer (Liabilities) to the extent that such Agent has been grossly negligent, fraudulent or in wilful default in respect of its obligations under this Agreement. The Agents shall not otherwise be liable or responsible for any Liabilities or inconvenience which may result from anything done or omitted to be done by them in connection with this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt the failure of any Agent to make a claim for payment of interest and principal on the Issuer, or to inform any other paying agent or clearing system of a failure on the part of the Issuer to meet any such claim or to make a payment by the stipulated date, shall not be deemed to constitute negligence (or, for that matter, gross negligence), fraud or wilful default on the part of such Agent. The liability of the Agents will not extend to any Liabilities arising through any acts, events or circumstances not reasonably within their control, or resulting from the general risks of investment in or the holding of assets in any jurisdiction, including, but not limited to, Liabilities arising from: nationalisation, expropriation or other governmental actions; any law, order or regulation of a governmental, supranational or regulatory body; regulation of the banking or securities industry including changes in market rules or practice, exchange or currency controls or restrictions, devaluations or fluctuations; market conditions affecting the execution or settlement of transactions or the value of assets; breakdown, failure or malfunction of any third party transport, utilities, telecommunications, computer (software or hardware) services or systems; natural disasters or acts of God; epidemic; war, terrorism, insurrection or revolution; and strikes or industrial action.
- 16.4 The indemnities set out above shall survive any termination of this Agreement and the removal and/or resignation of the Agents.
- 16.5 Notwithstanding the foregoing, under no circumstances will any Agent be liable to the Issuer, nor will the Issuer be liable to any Agent and nor will any Agent or Issuer be liable to any other party to this Agreement for any special, punitive, consequential or indirect loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (being including, without limitation, loss of business, goodwill, opportunity or profit) whether or not foreseeable, even if advised of the possibility of such loss or damage.

#### 17. REPAYMENT BY FISCAL AGENT

Sums paid by or by arrangement with the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall not be required to be repaid to the Issuer unless and until any Note or Coupon matures or any Note or Coupon or claim for payment in relation to the Notes becomes void under the provisions of Condition 5 and 7 but in that event the Fiscal Agent shall forthwith repay to the Issuer sums equivalent to the amounts which would otherwise have been payable in respect of the relevant Note or Coupon.

#### 18. CONDITIONS OF APPOINTMENT

- Subject as provided in subclause 18.3, each Paying Agent shall be entitled to deal with money paid to it by the Issuer for the purposes of this Agreement in the same manner as other money paid to a banker by its customers and shall not be liable to account to the Issuer for any interest or other amounts in respect of the money other than pursuant to Clause 17. No money held by any Paying Agent needs to be segregated except as required by law.
- 18.2 In acting under this Agreement and in connection with the Notes and the Coupons the Agents shall act solely as agents of the Issuer and will not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the owners or Noteholders.
- 18.3 No Agent shall exercise any right of set-off, lien or similar claim against the Issuer or any Noteholders in respect of any moneys payable to or by it under the terms of this Agreement.
- 18.4 Except as otherwise permitted in the Conditions, as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction, as required by law or otherwise instructed by the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents shall be entitled to treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as the absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not the Note or Coupon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or other writing on the Note or Coupon or any notice of previous loss or theft of the Note or Coupon).
- 18.5 The Agents shall be obliged to perform such duties and only such duties as are set out in this Agreement and the Notes and no implied duties or obligations shall be read into this Agreement or the Notes against the Agents other than the duty to act honestly and in good faith and to exercise the diligence of a reasonably prudent agent in comparable circumstances.
- 18.6 Each of the Agents, at the expense of the Issuer, provided such expenses are properly incurred, may consult with legal and other professional advisers and the opinion of the advisers shall be full and complete protection in respect of action taken, omitted or suffered under this Agreement in good faith and in accordance with the opinion of the advisers.
- 18.7 Each of the Agents shall be protected and shall incur no liability for or in respect of action taken, omitted or suffered in reliance upon any instruction, request or order from the Issuer or any document which it reasonably believes to be genuine and to have been delivered by the proper party or parties or upon written instructions from the Issuer. Each of the Agents is entitled to do nothing, without liability, if conflicting, unclear or equivocal instructions are received or in order to comply with any applicable law.
- Any of the Agents, their officers, directors or employees may become the owner of, or acquire any interest in, Notes or Coupons with the same rights (but without prejudice to any limitations which might apply in any other capacity) that it or he/she would have if the Agent concerned was not appointed under this Agreement, and may engage or be interested (subject as aforesaid) in any financial or other transaction with the Issuer, and may act on, or as depositary, trustee or agent for, any committee or body of holders of Notes or Coupons or

- other obligations of the Issuer, as freely as if the relevant Agent was not appointed under this Agreement.
- 18.9 No Agent shall be under any obligation to take any action under this Agreement which it reasonably expects will result in any expense or liability accruing to it, the payment of which within a reasonable time is not, in its opinion, assured to it.
- 18.10 No Agent shall be responsible to anyone with respect to the legality of this Agreement or the validity or legality of the Notes or Coupons.
- 18.11 No Paying Agent shall have any duty or responsibility in the case of any default by the Issuer in the performance of its obligations under the Conditions.
- 18.12 The Issuer shall provide the Paying Agent with a copy of the list of the authorised signatories and shall notify the Paying Agent in writing if any of such persons ceases to be an authorised signatory or if any additional person becomes an authorised signatory and, unless and until notified of any such change, the Paying Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any notice, communication or other document by an authorised signatory.
- 18.13 Notwithstanding anything else contained herein, the Fiscal Agent may refrain without liability from taking any action that it is required to take under the terms of this Agreement that, would or might, in its reasonable opinion (having consulted with legal counsel to the extent practicable and/or permissible), would be illegal or contrary to any law of any state or jurisdiction (including but not limited to the United States of America or any jurisdiction forming a part of it, the EU or any Member State of the EU and the United Kingdom) or any directive or regulation of any agency of any such state or jurisdiction or which would or might otherwise render it liable to any person and may without liability take any action or refrain from taking any such action that, in its reasonable opinion (having consulted with legal counsel to the extent practicable and/or permissible) is necessary to comply with any such law, directive or regulation.
- 18.14 Whenever, in the performance of its duties under this Agreement, a Paying Agent shall deem it desirable that any matter be established by the Issuer prior to taking or suffering any action under this Agreement, the matter may be deemed to be conclusively established by a certificate signed by the Issuer and delivered to the Paying Agent and the certificate shall be a full authorisation to the Paying Agent for any action taken or suffered in good faith by it under the provisions of this Agreement in reliance upon the certificate.
- 18.15 Notwithstanding and to the exclusion of any other term of this Agreement or any other agreements, arrangements, or understanding between Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch and the Issuer, the Issuer acknowledges and accepts that any UK Bail-in Liability arising under this Agreement may be subject to the exercise of UK Bail-in Powers by the relevant UK resolution authority, and acknowledges, accepts, and agrees to be bound by:
  - (a) the effect of the exercise of UK Bail-in Powers by the relevant UK resolution authority in relation to any UK Bail-in Liability of Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch to the Issuer under this Agreement, that (without limitation) may include and result in any of the following, or some combination thereof:
  - (b) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the UK Bail-in Liability or outstanding amounts due thereon;
  - (c) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the UK Bail-in Liability into shares, other securities or other obligations of Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch or

another person, and the issue to or conferral on the Issuer of such shares, securities or obligations;

- (d) the cancellation of the UK Bail-in Liability;
- (e) the amendment or alteration of any interest, if applicable, thereon, the maturity or the dates on which any payments are due, including by suspending payment for a temporary period;
- (f) the variation of the terms of this Agreement, as deemed necessary by the relevant UK resolution authority, to give effect to the exercise of UK Bail-in Powers by the relevant UK resolution authority.

For the purposes of this Clause 18.15:

**UK Bail-in Legislation** means Part I of the UK Banking Act 2009 and any other law or regulation applicable in the UK relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (otherwise than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings);

**UK Bail-in Liability** means a liability in respect of which the relevant UK Bail-in Powers may be exercised; and

**UK Bail-in Powers** means the powers under the UK Bail-In Legislation to cancel, transfer or dilute shares issued by a person that is a bank or investment firm or affiliate of a bank or investment firm, to cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a liability of such a person or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability.

18.16 The Agent is not responsible to monitor compliance by the Issuer or take steps to ascertain whether any relevant event under this Agreement and the Agent shall not be liable for loss arising from breach by the Issuer or any such event.

## 19. COMMUNICATION WITH PAYING AGENTS

A copy of all communications relating to the subject matter of this Agreement between the Issuer and any of the Paying Agents other than the Fiscal Agent shall be sent to the Fiscal Agent.

## 20. TERMINATION OF APPOINTMENT

- 20.1 The Issuer may terminate the appointment of any Agent at any time and/or appoint additional or other Agents by giving to the Agent whose appointment is concerned and, where appropriate, the Fiscal Agent at least 30 days' prior written notice to that effect, provided that, so long as any of the Notes is outstanding:
  - (a) in the case of a Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, the notice shall not expire less than 30 days before any due date for the payment of interest; and
  - (b) notice shall be given under Condition 10 at least 30 days before the removal or appointment of a Paying Agent.

- 20.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of subclause 20.1, if at any time:
  - an Agent becomes, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, incapable of acting, or no (a) longer able to meet its obligations under this Agreement, or becomes insolvent or incapable of meeting its payment obligations to any party, or is declared bankrupt or insolvent, or files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors or consents to the appointment of an administrator, liquidator (curator) or administrative or other receiver of all or any substantial part of its property, or if an administrator, liquidator (curator) or administrative or other receiver of it or of all or a substantial part of its property is appointed, or it admits in writing its inability to pay or meet its debts as they may mature or suspends payment of its debts, or if there is an order of any court approving any petition filed by or against it under the provisions of any applicable bankruptcy or insolvency law or if a public officer takes charge or control of the Agent or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, administration or liquidation or a rating agency has given notice of a downgrade of the Agent, or a rating agency has made a public announcement of any intended or potential downgrading of the Agent; or
  - (b) in the case of the Calculation Agent, it fails to determine the Reset Rate and Interest Amount in respect of any Interest Payment Date as provided in the Conditions and this Agreement,

the Issuer may forthwith without notice terminate the appointment of the Agent, in which event (save with respect to the termination of the appointment of the Calculation Agent) notice shall be given to the Noteholders under Condition 10 as soon as is practicable.

- 20.3 The termination of the appointment of an Agent under this Agreement shall not entitle the Agent to any amount by way of compensation but shall be without prejudice to any amount then accrued due.
- 20.4 All or any of the Agents may resign their respective appointments under this Agreement at any time by giving to the Issuer and, where appropriate, the Fiscal Agent at least 30 days' prior written notice to that effect provided that, so long as any of the Notes is outstanding, the notice shall not, in the case of a Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent (as applicable), expire less than 45 days before any due date for the payment of interest. For the avoidance of doubt, Article 7:408(2) of the Dutch Civil Code shall not apply. Following receipt of a notice of resignation from a Paying Agent, notice thereof shall promptly and in any event not less than 30 calendar days before the resignation takes effect, be given to the Noteholders under Condition 10. If the Fiscal Agent shall resign or be removed pursuant to subclauses 20.1 or 20.2 above or in accordance with this subclause 20.4, the Issuer shall promptly and in any event within 30 days appoint a successor (being a leading bank). If the Issuer fails to appoint a successor within such period, the Fiscal Agent may select a leading bank to act as Fiscal Agent hereunder and the Issuer shall appoint that bank as the successor Fiscal Agent. If it is stipulated in this Agreement that any resignation or removal of any Agent shall not take effect before the appointment by the Issuer of a successor Agent, then the Issuer agrees with the Agent that if, by the day falling 10 days before the expiry of any notice, the Issuer has not appointed a successor Agent then the Agent shall be entitled, on behalf of the Issuer, to appoint in its place as a successor Agent a reputable financial institution of good standing which the Issuer shall approve.
- Notwithstanding the provisions of subclauses 20.1, 20.2 and 20.4, so long as any of the Notes is outstanding, the termination of the appointment of an Agent (whether by the Issuer or by

the resignation of a Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent (as applicable)) shall not be effective unless upon the expiry of the relevant notice there is:

- (a) a Fiscal Agent;
- (b) a Calculation Agent;
- (c) to the extent relevant, as long as the Notes are admitted to listing and trading on any other stock exchange or regulated securities market and the rules of such exchange or securities market so require, a Paying Agent having a specified office in such location as the rules of such exchange or securities market may require; and
- (d) a Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union or the United Kingdom.
- Any successor Agent shall execute and deliver to its predecessor, the Issuer and, where appropriate, the Fiscal Agent an instrument accepting the appointment under this Agreement, and the successor Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the authority, rights, powers, trusts, immunities, duties and obligations of the predecessor with like effect as if originally named as an Agent.
- 20.7 If the appointment of a Paying Agent under this Agreement is terminated (whether by the Issuer or by the resignation of the Paying Agent), the Paying Agent shall on the date on which the termination takes effect deliver to its successor Paying Agent (or, if none, the Fiscal Agent) all Notes and Coupons surrendered to it but not yet destroyed and all records concerning the Notes and Coupons maintained by it (except such documents and records as it is obliged by law or regulation to retain or not to release) and pay to its successor Paying Agent (or, if none, to the Fiscal Agent) the amounts (if any) held by it in respect of Notes or Coupons which have become due and payable but which have not been presented for payment, but shall have no other duties or responsibilities under this Agreement.
- 20.8 If the Fiscal Agent or any of the other Paying Agents shall change its specified office, it shall give to the Issuer and, where appropriate, the Fiscal Agent not less than 45 days' prior written notice to that effect giving the address of the new specified office. As soon as practicable thereafter and in any event at least 30 days before the change, the Fiscal Agent shall give to the Noteholders on behalf of and at the expense of the Issuer notice of the change and the address of the new specified office under Condition 10.
- 20.9 A corporation into which any Agent for the time being may be merged or converted or a corporation with which the Agent may be consolidated or a corporation resulting from a merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Agent shall be a party shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be the successor Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties to this Agreement. Notice of any merger, conversion or consolidation shall forthwith be given to the Issuer and, where appropriate, the Fiscal Agent.

## 21. MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS

21.1 The provisions of Schedule 3 shall apply to meetings of the Noteholders and shall have effect in the same manner as if set out in this Agreement provided that, so long as any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note, the expression **Noteholders** shall include the persons for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the holders of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (each an **Accountholder**) (in which regard a certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive

and binding for all purposes in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) other than with respect to the payment of principal and interest on such Notes, the right to which shall be vested as against the Issuer solely in the bearer of each Global Note in accordance with and subject to its terms.

21.2 Without prejudice to subclause 21.1, each of the Paying Agents shall, on the request of any Noteholder, issue voting certificates and block voting instructions (as defined in Schedule 3) together, if so required by the Issuer, with reasonable proof satisfactory to the Issuer of their due execution on behalf of the Paying Agent under the provisions of Schedule 3 and shall forthwith give notice to the Issuer under Schedule 3 of any revocation or amendment of a voting certificate or block voting instruction. Each Paying Agent shall keep a full and complete record of all voting certificates and block voting instructions issued by it and shall, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for holding any meeting or adjourned meeting, deposit at such place as the Fiscal Agent shall designate or approve, full particulars of all voting certificates and block voting instructions issued by it in respect of any meeting or adjourned meeting.

#### 22. **COMMUNICATIONS**

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement to any of the parties shall be in English and shall be delivered in person, sent by pre-paid post (first class if inland, first class airmail if overseas) or by facsimile addressed to:

in the case of the Issuer, to it at:

Lifetri Groep B.V. Bisonspoor 3002 3605 LT Maarssen The Netherlands

Attention: directie@lifetri.nl

E-mail address: CFRO

in the case of the Fiscal Agent and the Calculation Agent, to it at:

Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch One Canada Square London E14 5AL United Kingdom

Attention: Conventional Debt EMEA - Team 1 E-mail address: CORPSOV1@bnymellon.com

or such other address of which notice in writing has been given to the other parties to this Agreement under the provisions of this Clause.

Any such notice shall take effect, if delivered in person, at the time of delivery, if sent by post, three days in the case of inland post or seven days in the case of overseas post after despatch, and, in the case of facsimile, when despatched. Communications not by letter shall be confirmed by letter but failure to send or receive the letter of confirmation shall not invalidate the original communication.

#### 23. ELECTRONIC MEANS

In no event shall any of the Agents be liable for any losses arising from the Agents receiving or transmitting any data to the Issuer or acting upon any notice, instruction, or other communication via any Electronic Means, except such as may result from their own negligence, fraud, wilful misconduct or breach of the terms of this Agreement, as a result or arising out of or in relation to its acting as Agents of the Issuer in relation to the Notes. The Agents have no duty or obligation, in the absence of negligence, fraud and wilful misconduct on their part, to verify or confirm that the person who sent such notice, instruction or other communication is, in fact, a person authorised to give such notice, instruction or other communication on behalf of the Issuer. The Issuer agrees that the security procedures, if any, to be followed in connection with a transmission of any such notice, instruction or other communication, provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and circumstances.

#### 24. AMENDMENTS

This Agreement may be amended in writing by all of the parties, without the consent of any Noteholder, either:

- (a) for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or of curing, correcting or supplementing any manifest or proven error or any other defective provision contained in this Agreement; or
- (b) in any other manner which the parties may mutually deem necessary or desirable and which shall not be inconsistent with the Conditions and shall not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

## 25. TAXES AND STAMP DUTIES

The Issuer agrees to pay any and all stamp and other documentary taxes or duties which may be payable in connection with the execution, delivery, performance and enforcement of this Agreement by an Agent.

## 26. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single Agreement.

#### 27. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- 27.1 This Agreement, including Clause 26.2 and any non-contractual obligations arising from or connected herewith, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Netherlands.
- 27.2 The Courts of the Netherlands are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Agreement (including any non-contractual obligations arising from or connected herewith), and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with this Agreement may be brought in such courts.

THIS AGREEMENT has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning.

## **SIGNATORIES**

LIFETRI GROUP B.V., as Issuer

By: Menno Harkema, cfro By:

# BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH

as Fiscal Agent and Calculation Agent

By:

## **SIGNATORIES**

LIFETRI GROEP B.V.

as Issuer

By:

BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH

as Fiscal Agent and Calculation Agent

By:

Marco Thuo

#### **SCHEDULE 1**

#### FORMS OF THE GLOBAL NOTES

#### PART 1

THIS TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND, SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, MAY NOT BE OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED, DELIVERED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE UNITED STATES OR TO OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ANY UNITED STATES PERSON.

ISIN: XS2409168783

## LIFETRI GROEP B.V.

#### TEMPORARY GLOBAL NOTE

#### EUR 80,000,000 Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032

This Temporary Global Note is issued in respect of the EUR 80,000,000 Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032 (the **Notes**) of Lifetri Groep B.V. (the **Issuer**). The Notes are issued subject to and with the benefit of an Agency Agreement (the **Agency Agreement**) dated 1 December 2021, between the Issuer and Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as Fiscal Agent (in such capacity, the **Fiscal Agent**) and as Calculation Agent and the Conditions of the Notes set out in of Schedule 2 to the Agency Agreement.

Any reference herein to the **Conditions** is to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out in Schedule 2 (*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*) to the Agency Agreement, and any reference to a numbered **Condition** is to the correspondingly numbered provision thereof. Words and expressions defined in the Conditions shall have the same meanings when used in this Temporary Global Note.

## 1. Promise to Pay

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note the principal sum of

## EUR 80,000,000 (EIGHTY MILLION EURO)

on the date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the Conditions, and to pay interest on each such Note on the dates and in the manner specified in the Conditions, together with any additional amounts payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions; *provided, however, that* such interest shall be payable only:

1.1 Before the Exchange Date: in the case of interest falling due before the Exchange Date (as defined below), to the extent that a certificate or certificates of non-US beneficial ownership in the form required by the Fiscal Agent, issued by Euroclear Bank SA/NV (Euroclear) and/or Clearstream Banking, S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg and, together with Euroclear, the relevant Clearing Systems) dated not earlier than the date on which such interest falls due is delivered to the Fiscal Agent; or

1.2 Failure to exchange: in the case of interest falling due at any time, to the extent that the Issuer has failed to procure the exchange for a permanent global Note of that portion of this Temporary Global Note in respect of which such interest has accrued.

The principal amount of Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems. The records of the relevant Clearing Systems (which expression in this Temporary Global Note means the records that each relevant Clearing System holds for its customers which reflect the amount of such customer's interest in the Notes) shall be conclusive evidence of the principal amount of Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note and, for these purposes, a statement issued by a relevant Clearing System (which statement shall be made available to the bearer upon request) stating the nominal amount of Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant Clearing System at that time.

## 2. Exchange for Permanent Global Note and Purchases

On or after the day following the expiry of 40 days after the date of issue of this Temporary Global Note (the **Exchange Date**), the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the delivery of a permanent global Note (the **Permanent Global Note**) in substantially the form set out in Part 2 of Schedule 1 (*Form of Permanent Global Note*) to the Agency Agreement to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms against:

- 2.1 *Presentation and surrender*: presentation and (in the case of final exchange) presentation and surrender of this Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent; and
- 2.2 *Certification*: receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-US beneficial ownership in the form required by it, issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg dated not earlier than the Exchange Date.

The principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the certificates issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and received by the Fiscal Agent; provided, however, that in no circumstances shall the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note.

## 3. Delivery of Permanent Global Note

Whenever any interest in this Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Permanent Global Note, duly authenticated, to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent exchange) an increase in the principal amount of Notes represented by such Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms, in each case in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the certificates issued by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and received by the Fiscal Agent against presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of this Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 7 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

## 4. Failure to deliver Permanent Global Note or to repay

If:

- 4.1 Permanent Global Note: the Permanent Global Note has not been delivered or the principal amount thereof increased in accordance with paragraph 3 (Delivery of Permanent Global Note) above by 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the seventh day after the bearer has requested exchange of an interest in this Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note; or
- 4.2 Payment default: this Temporary Global Note (or any part hereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Conditions or the date for redemption of this Temporary Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest and other accrued amounts thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of this Temporary Global Note on the due date for payment,

then, unless within the period of 15 days commencing on the relevant due date payment in full of the amount due in respect of this Temporary Global Note is received by the bearer in accordance with the foregoing, at 8.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on such 15th day (the Relevant Time), each Relevant Account Holder (which, for the purpose hereof shall be deemed to be the Noteholder as referred to in the Conditions) shall automatically acquire (save as provided below), without the need for any further action on behalf of any person, against the Issuer all those rights (Direct Rights) which such Relevant Account Holder would have had if immediately before the Relevant Time it held and owned duly executed and authenticated Notes in definitive form (Definitive Notes) and (if applicable) Coupons, Coupon sheets, and/or Talons in respect of each underlying Note represented by such Global Note which such Relevant Account Holder has credited to its securities account with the relevant Clearing System at the Relevant Time, including, without limitation, the right to receive all payments due at any time in respect of such Definitive Notes other than payments corresponding to any already made under this Temporary Global Note. No further action shall be required on the part of any person in order for Direct Rights to be acquired as contemplated hereinbefore and for each Relevant Account Holder to have the benefit of, and to enforce, rights corresponding to all the provisions of the terms and conditions of the relevant Definitive Notes as if they had been specifically incorporated in this Temporary Global Note other than the right to receive payments corresponding to any already made under this Temporary Global Note. The Issuer's obligation pursuant to this paragraph shall be a separate and independent obligation by reference to each relevant underlying Note and the Issuer agrees that a Relevant Account Holder may assign its rights hereunder in whole or in part.

The records of the relevant Clearing System shall be conclusive evidence of the identity of the Relevant Account Holder(s) and the number of Notes to which each Relevant Account Holder is entitled on the date on which such payment first becomes due (except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Fiscal Agent on or prior to such due date, the date on which the full amount of such moneys having been so received) (the **Relevant Date**) and, accordingly, of the identity of the creditors of the Direct Rights of each creditor. For this purpose, a statement issued by the relevant Clearing System stating:

- (a) the name of the Relevant Account Holder;
- (b) the number of Notes as credited to the securities account of the Relevant Account Holder at the Relevant Date; and
- (c) any amount paid on by the relevant Clearing System to the Relevant Account Holder in respect of each Note,

shall be conclusive evidence of the Relevant Account Holder's entitlement on the relevant Clearing System's records at the Relevant Date.

Each Relevant Account Holder shall - where applicable - have the right to assign Direct Rights recorded in their name to a third party, including the legal person who or which has an interest in this Temporary Global Note. Such legal person shall be obliged to accept the assignment, as a result of which the legal person in question will acquire a direct claim against the Issuer.

All payments made by the Issuer under the Direct Rights to a Relevant Account Holder or to the person(s) to which any of the Direct Rights shall have been legally assigned shall be deemed to be a payment to the holder of interests in this Temporary Global Note and to that extent shall operate as full and final discharge of the Issuer against both the holder of this Temporary Global Note and the Relevant Account Holders.

To the extent required, the rights of the Relevant Holders hereunder will come into existence at the time that the relevant entry is made with the relevant Clearing System and the Relevant Account Holder has become aware of this stipulation of rights in its favour and has not immediately rejected the same.

**Relevant Account Holder** means any account holder with the relevant Clearing System which has underlying Notes credited to its securities account from time to time.

## 5. Writing down

On each occasion on which:

- 5.1 *Permanent Global Note*: the Permanent Global Note is delivered or the principal amount of Notes represented thereby is increased in accordance with its terms in exchange for a further portion of this Temporary Global Note; or
- 5.2 *Cancellation*: Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note are to be cancelled in accordance with Condition 4 (*Redemption and Purchase*),

the Issuer shall procure that details of the exchange or cancellation shall be entered *pro rata* in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

## 6. Payments

Payments due in respect of Notes for the time being represented by this Temporary Global Note shall be made to the bearer of this Temporary Global Note only upon presentation by Euroclear or, as the case may be, Clearstream, Luxembourg to the Fiscal Agent at its specified office of a certificate to the effect that it has received from or in respect of a person entitled to a particular principal amount of the Notes (as shown on its records) a certificate of non-US beneficial ownership in the form required by it. Each payment so made will discharge the Issuer's obligations in respect thereof.

The bearer of this Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to receive any payment of interest due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of this Temporary Global Note is improperly withheld or refused.

Upon any payment in respect of the Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that the amount so paid shall be entered *pro rata* in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems. In the case of any payment of principal Amounts the Issuer shall procure that the amount so paid shall be entered *pro rata* in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems and, upon such entry being made, the principal amount of the Notes recorded in the records of the relevant Clearing

Systems and represented by this Temporary Global Note shall be reduced by the amount so paid. Any failure to make such entries shall not affect the discharge referred to in the first paragraph above.

The Issuer's obligation to pay principal and interest on this Temporary Global Note is discharged once it has paid the Fiscal Agent and/or Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (as bearers of the Notes), and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any withholding or deduction on payments made thereafter through or by the Fiscal Agent, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, custodians or intermediaries.

## 7. Conditions apply

Until this Temporary Global Note has been exchanged as provided herein or cancelled in accordance with the Agency Agreement, the bearer of this Temporary Global Note shall be subject to the Conditions and, subject as otherwise provided herein, shall be entitled to the same rights and benefits under the Conditions as if the bearer were the holder of Definitive Notes and any related Coupons in the denomination of EUR 1,000 and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Notes represented by this Temporary Global Note.

#### 8. Notices

Notwithstanding Condition 10 (*Notices*), while all the Notes are represented by this Temporary Global Note (or by this Temporary Global Note and the Permanent Global Note) and this Temporary Global Note is (or this Temporary Global Note and the Permanent Global Note are) deposited with a common safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with the Condition 10 (*Notices*) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

## 9. Prescription

Claims in respect of principal and interest in respect of this Temporary Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of five years from the due date for payment thereof.

## 10. Meetings

The holder hereof shall (unless this Temporary Global Note represents only one Note) be treated as two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of each EUR 1,000 in principal amount of Notes.

#### 11. Authentication and Effectuation

This Temporary Global Note shall not become valid or enforceable for any purpose unless and until it has been authenticated by or on behalf of the Fiscal Agent and effectuated by the entity appointed as common safe-keeper by the relevant Clearing Systems.

## 12. Governing Law

This Temporary Global Note is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the Netherlands.

LIFETRI GROEP B.V.					
By:	By:				
Issued in Amsterdam as of 1 December 2021.					
This Temporary Global Note is authenticated without recourse, warranty or liability by or on behalf of the Fiscal Agent, Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.					
BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH					
By:					
CERTIFICATE OF EFFECTUATION					
Effectuated without recourse, warranty or liability by BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDO	N BRANCH as common safekeeper				
By:					

**IN WITNESS** whereof this Temporary Global Note has been executed on behalf of the Issuer.

#### PART 2

THIS PERMANENT GLOBAL NOTE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND, SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, MAY NOT BE OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED, DELIVERED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE UNITED STATES OR TO OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ANY UNITED STATES PERSON.

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

ISIN: XS2409168783

## LIFETRI GROEP B.V.

#### PERMANENT GLOBAL NOTE

## EUR 80,000,000 Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032

This Permanent Global Note is issued in respect of the EUR 80,000,000 Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032 (the **Notes**) of Lifetri Groep B.V. (the **Issuer**). The Notes are issued subject to and with the benefit of an Agency Agreement (the **Agency Agreement**) dated 1 December 2021, between the Issuer and Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as Fiscal Agent (in such capacity, the **Fiscal Agent**) and as Calculation Agent and the Conditions of the Notes set out in of Schedule 2 to the Agency Agreement.

Any reference herein to the **Conditions** is to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out in Schedule 2 (*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*) to the Agency Agreement, and any reference to a numbered **Condition** is to the correspondingly numbered provision thereof. Words and expressions defined in the Conditions shall have the same meanings when used in this Permanent Global Note.

## 1. Promise to Pay

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer of this Permanent Global Note, in respect of each Note represented by this Permanent Global Note, its principal amount on the date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the Conditions, and to pay interest on each such Note on the dates and in the manner specified in the Conditions, together with any additional amounts payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

The principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of the Euroclear Bank SA/NV (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking, S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg and, together with Euroclear, the relevant Clearing Systems). The records of the relevant Clearing Systems (which expression in this Permanent Global Note means the records that each relevant Clearing System holds for its customers which reflect the amount of such customer's interest in the Notes) shall be conclusive evidence of the principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note and, for these purposes, a statement issued by a relevant Clearing System (which statement shall be made available to the bearer upon request) stating the nominal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant Clearing System at that time.

# 2. Exchange of Interests in the Temporary Global Note for Interests in this Permanent Global Note

Upon any exchange of an interest recorded in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems in the Temporary Global Note representing the Notes for an interest recorded in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems in this Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that details of such exchange shall be entered *pro rata* in the records of the relevant Clearing System.

## 3. Exchange for Definitive Notes and Purchases

This Permanent Global Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of the bearer of this Permanent Global Note, for Notes in definitive form (**Definitive Notes**) in substantially the form set out in Part 3 of Schedule 1 (*Form of Definitive Note, Coupon and Talon*) to the Agency Agreement if either of the following events occurs:

- 3.1 Closure of clearing systems: Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so and no alternative clearing system is available; or
- 3.2 Enforcement event: an enforcement event (as set out in Condition 8 (Enforcement Events) has occurred and is continuing; or
- 3.3 Payment of additional amounts: the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided for or referred to in Condition 6 (*Taxation*) which would not be required were the Notes represented in definitive form.

## 4. Delivery of Definitive Notes

Whenever this Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and Talons attached, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note to the bearer of this Permanent Global Note against the surrender of this Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

## 5. Failure to deliver Definitive Securities or to repay

If:

- 5.1 Failure to deliver Definitive Notes: Definitive Notes have not been delivered in accordance with paragraph 4 (Delivery of Definitive Notes) above by 5.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on the 30th day after the bearer has requested exchange of this Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes; or
- 5.2 Payment default: this Permanent Global Note (or any part hereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Conditions or the date for redemption of this Permanent Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest and other accrued amounts thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of this Permanent Global Note on the due date for payment,

then, unless within the period of 15 days commencing on the relevant due date payment in full of the amount due in respect of this Permanent Global Note is received by the bearer in accordance with the

foregoing, at 8.00 p.m. (Luxembourg time) on such 15th day (the **Relevant Time**), each Relevant Account Holder shall automatically acquire (save as provided below), without the need for any further action on behalf of any person, against the Issuer all those rights (Direct Rights) which such Relevant Account Holder would have had if at the Relevant Time it held and owned duly executed and authenticated Definitive Notes and (if applicable) Coupons, Coupon sheets and/or Talons in respect of each underlying Note represented by such Global Note which such Relevant Account Holder has credited to its securities account with the relevant Clearing System at the Relevant Time (which for the purpose hereof, shall be deemed to be the Noteholder, as referred to in the Conditions including, without limitation, the right to receive all payments due at any time in respect of such Definitive Notes other than payments corresponding to any already made under this Permanent Global Note. No further action shall be required on the part of any person in order for Direct Rights to be acquired as contemplated hereinbefore and for each Relevant Account Holder to have the benefit of, and to enforce, rights corresponding to all the provisions of the terms and conditions of the relevant Definitive Notes as if they had been specifically incorporated in this Permanent Global Note other than the right to receive payments corresponding to any already made under this Permanent Global Note. The Issuer's obligation pursuant to this paragraph shall be a separate and independent obligation by reference to each relevant underlying Note and the Issuer agrees that a Relevant Account Holder may assign its rights hereunder in whole or in part.

The records of the relevant Clearing System shall be conclusive evidence of the identity of the Relevant Account Holder(s) and the number of Notes to which each Relevant Account Holder is entitled at the date on which such payment first becomes due (except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Agent on or prior to such due date, the date on which the full amount of such moneys having been so received) (the **Relevant Date**) and, accordingly, of the identity of the creditors of the Direct Rights of each creditor. For this purpose, a statement issued by the relevant Clearing System stating:

- (a) the name of the Relevant Account Holder;
- (b) the number of Notes as credited to the securities account of the Relevant Account Holder at the Relevant Date; and
- (c) any amount paid on by the relevant Clearing System to the Relevant Account Holder in respect of each Note,

shall be conclusive evidence of the Relevant Account Holder's entitlement on the relevant Clearing System's records at the Relevant Date.

Each Relevant Account Holder shall - where applicable - have the right to assign Direct Rights recorded in their name to a third party, including the legal person who or which has an interest in this Permanent Global Note. Such legal person shall be obliged to accept the assignment, as a result of which the legal person in question will acquire a direct claim against the Issuer.

All payments made by the Issuer under the Direct Rights to a Relevant Account Holder or to the person(s) to which any of the Direct Rights shall have been legally assigned shall be deemed to be a payment to the holder of interests in this Permanent Global Note and to that extent shall operate as full and final discharge of the Issuer against both the holder of this Permanent Global Note and the Relevant Account Holders.

To the extent required, the rights of the Relevant Holders hereunder will come into existence at the time that the relevant entry is made with the relevant Clearing System and the Relevant Account Holder has become aware of this stipulation of rights in its favour and has not immediately rejected the same.

**Relevant Account Holder** means any account holder with the relevant Clearing System which has underlying Notes credited to its securities account from time to time.

## 6. Writing down

On each occasion on which:

- 6.1 *Payment of principal*: a payment of principal is made in respect of this Permanent Global Note:
- 6.2 Definitive Notes: Definitive Notes are delivered; or
- 6.3 Cancellation: Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note are to be cancelled in accordance with Condition 4 (Redemption and Purchase),

the Issuer shall procure that details of the exchange or cancellation shall be entered *pro rata* in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

## 7. Writing up

## 7.1 **Initial Exchange**

If this Permanent Global Note was originally issued in exchange for part only of a temporary global Note representing the Notes, then all references in this Permanent Global Note to the principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note shall be construed as references to the principal amount of Notes represented by the part of the temporary global Note in exchange for which this Permanent Global Note was originally issued which the Issuer shall procure is entered by the relevant Clearing Systems in their records.

## 7.2 Subsequent Exchange

If at any subsequent time any further portion of such temporary global Note is exchanged for an interest in this Permanent Global Note, the principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note shall be increased by the amount of such further portion, and the Issuer shall procure that the principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note (which shall be the previous principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note plus the amount of such further portion) is entered by the relevant Clearing Systems in their records.

## 8. Payments

Payments due in respect of Notes for the time being represented by this Permanent Global Note shall be made to the bearer of this Permanent Global Note and each payment so made will discharge the Issuer's obligations in respect thereof.

Upon any payment in respect of the Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that the amount so paid shall be entered *pro rata* in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems. In the case of any payment of principal, the Issuer shall procure that the amount so paid shall be entered *pro rata* in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems and, upon any such entry being made, the principal amount of the Notes recorded in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems and represented by this permanent Global Note shall be reduced by the amount so paid. Any failure to make such entries shall not affect the discharge referred to in the previous paragraph.

The Issuer's obligation to pay principal and interest on this Permanent Global Note is discharged once it has paid the Paying Agent and/or Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (as bearers of the Notes),

and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any withholding or deduction on payments made thereafter through or by the Paying Agent, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, custodians or intermediaries.

## 9. Conditions apply

Until this Permanent Global Note has been exchanged as provided herein or cancelled in accordance with the Agency Agreement, the bearer of this Permanent Global Note shall be subject to the Conditions and, subject as otherwise provided herein, shall be entitled to the same rights and benefits under the Conditions as if the bearer were the holder of Definitive Notes and any related Coupons and Talons in the denomination of EUR 1,000 and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes represented by this Permanent Global Note.

#### 10. Notices

Notwithstanding Condition 10 (*Notices*), while all the Notes are represented by this Permanent Global Note (or by this Permanent Global Note and a temporary Global Note) and this Permanent Global Note is (or this Permanent Global Note and a temporary global Note are) deposited with a common safekeeper on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with the Condition 10 (*Notices*) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

## 11. Prescription

Claims in respect of principal and interest in respect of this Permanent Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of five years from the due date for payment thereof.

## 12. Meetings

The holder hereof shall (unless this Permanent Global Note represents only one Note) be treated as two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Noteholders and, at any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of each EUR 1,000 in principal amount of Notes.

#### 13. Authentication and Effectuation

This Permanent Global Note shall not become valid or enforceable for any purpose unless and until it has been authenticated by or on behalf of the Paying Agent and effectuated by the entity appointed as common safekeeper by the relevant Clearing Systems.

## 14. Governing Law

This Permanent Global Note is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the Netherlands.

LIFETRI GROEP B.V.	
By: By	<i>:</i> :
Issued in Amsterdam as of 1 December 2021.	
This Permanent Global Note is authenticated witho the Fiscal Agent, Bank of New York Mellon, London	
BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON F	BRANCH
By:	
CERTIFICATE OF EFFECTUATION	
Effectuated without recourse, warranty or liability by BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON F	BRANCH as common safe-keeper
Ву:	

IN WITNESS whereof this Permanent Global Note has been executed on behalf of the Issuer.

#### PART 3

## FORM OF DEFINITIVE NOTE, COUPON AND TALON

[On the face of the Definitive Note:]

EUR [denomination]

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

## LIFETRI GROEP B.V.

#### EUR 80,000,000 Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032

This Note is one of a series of Notes (the **Notes**) in the denomination[s] of EUR [denomination] [and EUR [denomination]] and in the aggregate principal amount of EUR 80,000,000 issued by Lifetri Groep B.V. (the **Issuer**).

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the bearer the principal sum of

## EUR 80,000,000 (EIGHTY MILLION EURO)

on the date or dates as the same may become payable in accordance with the conditions endorsed hereon (the **Conditions**), and to pay interest on such principal sum on the dates and at the rates specified in the Conditions, together with any additional amounts payable in accordance with the Conditions, all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

Interest and, if applicable, other amounts are payable on the above principal sum at rates determined in accordance with the Conditions in arrear on the Interest Payment Dates (as defined in the Conditions) specified in and all subject to and in accordance with the Conditions.

This Note and the interest coupons and talons relating hereto shall not be valid for any purpose until this Note has been authenticated for and on behalf of Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as paying agent.

**AS WITNESS** the facsimile signature of a duly authorised person on behalf of the Issuer.

LIFETRI GROEP B.V.				
By:	Ву:			
[manual or facsimile signature]	[manual or facsimile signature]			
(duly authorised)	(duly authorised)			

ISSUED on 1 December 2021 AUTHENTICATED for and on behalf of Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as Fiscal Agent without recourse, warranty or liability			
By:			
[manual signature] (duly authorised)			
[On the reverse of the Definitive Note:]			
CONDITIONS			
[INSERT]			

[At the foot of the Conditions:]

**Fiscal Agent and Calculation Agent** 

Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch
One Canada Square
London E14 5AL
United Kingdom

## Form of Coupon

[On the face of the Coupon:]

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

## LIFETRI GROEP B.V.

## EUR 80,000,000

#### Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032

This Coupon relates to a Note in the denomination of EUR [amount].

Coupon for the amount of interest due on the Interest Payment Date [on/falling in] [date/month and year].

Such Note is payable, subject to the terms and conditions (the **Conditions**) endorsed on the Note to which this Coupon relates (which are binding on the holder of this Coupon whether or not it is for the time being attached to such Note), against presentation and surrender of this Coupon at the specified office for the time being of any of the agents shown on the reverse of this Coupon (or any successor or additional agents appointed from time to time in accordance with the Conditions).

The Note to which this Coupon relates may, in certain circumstances specified in the Conditions, fall due for redemption before the maturity date of this Coupon. In such event, this Coupon shall become void and no payment will be made in respect hereof.

[On the reverse of the Coupon:]

**Fiscal Agent and Calculation Agent** 

Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch
One Canada Square
London E14 5AL
United Kingdom

## Form of Talon

[On the face of the Talon:]

ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.

## LIFETRI GROEP B.V.

## EUR 80,000,000

#### Fixed to Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes due 2032

Talon for further Coupons.

On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon which is (or was at the time of issue) part of the Coupon sheet to which this Talon is (or was at the time of issue) attached, this Talon may be exchanged at the specified office for the time being of the agent shown on the reverse of this Talon (or any successor agent appointed from time to time in accordance with the terms and conditions (the **Conditions**) of the Notes to which this Talon relates) for a further Coupon sheet (including a further Talon but excluding any Coupons in respect of which claims have already become void pursuant to the Conditions).

The Note to which this Talon relates may, in certain circumstances specified in the Conditions, fall due for redemption before the maturity date of such final Coupon. In such event, this Talon shall become void and no Coupon will be delivered in respect hereof.

[On the reverse of the Talon:]

**Fiscal Agent and Calculation Agent** 

Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch

One Canada Square London E14 5AL United Kingdom

## **SCHEDULE 2**

## TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

#### **SCHEDULE 3**

## PROVISIONS FOR MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS

## 1. INTERPRETATION

In this Schedule:

references to a **meeting** are to a meeting of Noteholders and include, unless the context otherwise requires, any adjournment;

**Agent** means a holder of a voting certificate or a proxy for a Noteholder;

Block Voting Instruction means an instruction issued in accordance with paragraphs 8 to 14;

**Electronic Consent** has the meaning set out in paragraph 30;

**Extraordinary Resolution** means a resolution passed (a) at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with this Agreement by a majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast (b) by a Written Resolution or (c) by Electronic Consent;

**Voting Certificate** means a certificate issued in accordance with paragraphs 5, 6, 7 and 14;

**Written Resolution** means a resolution in writing signed by the holders of not less than 90 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding; and

references to persons representing a proportion of the Notes are to Noteholders or Agents holding or representing in the aggregate at least that proportion in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding.

## 2. POWERS OF MEETINGS

- 2.1 A meeting shall, subject to the Conditions and without prejudice to any powers conferred on other persons by this Agreement, have power by Extraordinary Resolution:
  - (i) to sanction any proposal by the Issuer for any modification, abrogation, variation or compromise of, or arrangement in respect of, the rights of the Noteholders and/or the Couponholders against the Issuer, whether or not those rights arise under the Notes;
  - (ii) to sanction the exchange or substitution for the Notes of, or the conversion of the Notes into, shares, Notes or other obligations or securities of the Issuer, or any other entity
  - (iii) to assent to any modification of this Agreement, the Notes or the Coupons proposed by the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent;
  - (iv) to authorise anyone to concur in and do anything necessary to carry out and give effect to an Extraordinary Resolution;
  - (v) to give any authority, direction or sanction required to be given by Extraordinary Resolution;
  - (vi) to appoint any persons (whether Noteholders or not) as a committee or committees to represent the Noteholders' interests and to confer on them any powers or discretions which the Noteholders could themselves exercise by Extraordinary Resolution; and

- (vii) to approve the substitution of any entity for the Issuer (or any previous substitute) as principal debtor under this Agreement.
- (viii) provided that the special quorum provisions in paragraph 19 shall apply to any Extraordinary Resolution (a **special quorum resolution**) for the purpose of subparagraph 2.2 or 2.7 or for the purpose of making a modification to this Agency Agreement or the Notes which would have the effect of:
  - (a) modifying the dates on which interest is payable in respect of the Notes;
  - (b) reducing or cancelling the principal amount of, or interest on, or varying the method of calculating the rate of interest on, the Notes;
  - (c) changing the currency of payment of the Notes or the Coupons;
  - (d) modifying the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution; or
  - (e) any amendment to this proviso.

#### 3. CONVENING A MEETING

- 3.1 The Issuer may at any time convene a meeting. If it receives a written request by Noteholders holding at least 10 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding and is indemnified to its satisfaction against all costs and expenses, the Issuer shall convene a meeting. Every meeting shall be held at a time and place approved by the Fiscal Agent (which need not be a physical place and instead may be by way of conference call, including by use of a videoconference platform).
- 3.1 At least 21 days' notice (exclusive of the day on which the notice is given and of the day of the meeting) shall be given to the Noteholders. A copy of the notice shall be given by the party convening the meeting to the other parties. The notice shall specify the day, time and place of meeting and the nature of the resolutions to be proposed and shall explain how Noteholders may appoint proxies or representatives, obtain Voting Certificates and use Block Voting Instructions and the details of the time limits applicable.

#### 4. ARRANGEMENTS FOR VOTING

4.1 If a holder of a Note wishes to obtain a Voting Certificate in respect of it for a meeting, he must deposit it for that purpose at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting with a Paying Agent or to the order of a Paying Agent with a bank or other depositary nominated by the Paying Agent for the purpose. The Paying Agent shall then issue a Voting Certificate in respect of it.

## 4.2 A Voting Certificate shall:

- (i) be a document in the English language;
- (ii) be dated;
- (iii) specify the meeting concerned and the serial numbers of the Notes deposited; and
- (iv) entitle, and state that it entitles, its bearer to attend and vote at that meeting in respect of those Notes.

- 4.3 Once a Paying Agent has issued a Voting Certificate for a meeting in respect of a Note, it shall not release the Note until either:
  - (i) the meeting has been concluded, or
  - (ii) the Voting Certificate has been surrendered to the Paying Agent.
- 4.4 If holders of a Note wishes the votes attributable to it to be included in a Block Voting Instruction for a meeting, then, at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting, (i) they must deposit the Note for that purpose with a Paying Agent or to the order of a Paying Agent with a bank or other depositary nominated by the Paying Agent for the purpose and (ii) they or a duly authorised person on their behalf must direct the Paying Agent how those votes are to be cast. The Paying Agent shall issue a Block Voting Instruction in respect of the votes attributable to all Notes so deposited.
- 4.5 A Block Voting Instruction shall:
  - (i) be a document in the English language;
  - (ii) be dated;
  - (iii) specify the meeting concerned;
  - (iv) list the total number and serial numbers of the Notes deposited, distinguishing with regard to each resolution between those voting for and those voting against it;
  - (v) certify that such list is in accordance with Notes deposited and directions received as provided in paragraphs 8, 11 and 14; and
  - (vi) appoint a named person (a **proxy**) to vote at that meeting in respect of those Notes and in accordance with that list.
- 4.6 A proxy need not be a Noteholder.
- 4.7 Once a Paying Agent has issued a Block Voting Instruction for a meeting in respect of the votes attributable to any Notes:
  - (i) it shall not release the Notes, except as provided in paragraph 11, until the meeting has been concluded; and
  - (ii) the directions to which it gives effect may not be revoked or altered during the 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.
- 4.8 If the receipt for a Note deposited with a Paying Agent in accordance with paragraph 8 is surrendered to the Paying Agent at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting, the Paying Agent shall release the Note and exclude the votes attributable to it from the Block Voting Instruction.
- 4.9 Each Block Voting Instruction shall be deposited at least 24 hours before the time fixed for the meeting at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent or such other place as the Issuer shall designate or approve, and in default it shall not be valid unless the chairman of the meeting decides otherwise before the meeting proceeds to business. If the Issuer requires, a notarially certified copy of each Block Voting Instruction shall be produced by the proxy at the meeting

but the Issuer need not investigate or be concerned with the validity of the proxy's appointment.

- 4.10 A vote cast in accordance with a Block Voting Instruction shall be valid even if it or any of the Noteholders' instructions pursuant to which it was executed has previously been revoked or amended, unless written intimation of such revocation or amendment is received from the relevant Paying Agent by the Fiscal Agent at its specified office (or such other place as may have been specified by the Issuer for the purpose) or by the chairman of the meeting in each case at least 24 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.
- 4.11 No Note may be deposited with or to the order of a Paying Agent at the same time for the purposes of both paragraph 5 and paragraph 8 for the same meeting.

#### 5. CHAIRMAN

- 5.1 The chairman of a meeting shall be such person as the Issuer may nominate in writing, but if no such nomination is made or if the person nominated is not present within 15 minutes after the time fixed for the meeting, the Noteholders or agents present shall choose one of their number to be chairman, failing which the Issuer may appoint a chairman.
- 5.2 The chairman may, but need not, be a Noteholder or agent. The chairman of an adjourned meeting need not be the same person as the chairman of the original meeting.

## 6. ATTENDANCE

- 6.1 The following may attend and speak at a meeting:
  - (i) Noteholders and Agents;
  - (ii) the chairman; and
  - (iii) the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent (through their respective representatives) and their respective financial and legal advisers.
- 6.2 No one else may attend or speak.

## 7. QUORUM AND ADJOURNMENT

- 7.1 No business (except choosing a chairman) shall be transacted at a meeting unless a quorum is present at the commencement of business. If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes from the time initially fixed for the meeting, it shall, if convened on the requisition of Noteholders, be dissolved. In any other case, it shall be adjourned until such date, not less than 14 nor more than 42 days later, and at such time and place as the chairman may decide. If a quorum is not present within 15 minutes from the time fixed for a meeting so adjourned, the meeting shall be dissolved.
- 7.2 Two or more Noteholders or Agents present in person shall be a quorum:
  - (i) in the cases marked "No minimum proportion" in the table below, whatever the proportion of the total principal amount of the Notes which they represent; and
  - (ii) in any other case, only if they represent the proportion of the total principal amount of the Notes shown by the table below.

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
Purpose of meeting	Any meeting except one referred to in column 3	Meeting previously adjourned due to an absence of a required quorum
	Required proportion	Required proportion
To pass a special quorum resolution	> 66 2/3 per cent.	> 33 1/3 per cent.
To pass any other Extraordinary Resolution	> 50 per cent.	No minimum proportion
Any other purpose	> 10 per cent.	No minimum proportion

- 7.3 The chairman may with the consent of (and shall if directed by) a meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place. Only business which could have been transacted at the original meeting may be transacted at a meeting adjourned in accordance with this paragraph or paragraph 18.
- 7.4 At least 10 days' notice of a meeting adjourned through want of a quorum shall be given in the same manner as for an original meeting and that notice shall state the quorum required at the adjourned meeting. No notice need, however, otherwise be given of an adjourned meeting.

## 8. VOTING

- 8.1 Each question submitted to a meeting shall be decided by a show of hands unless a poll is (before, or on the declaration of the result of, the show of hands) demanded by the chairman, the Issuer or one or more persons representing 2 per cent. of the Notes.
- 8.2 Unless a poll is demanded, a declaration by the chairman that a resolution has or has not been passed shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes cast in favour of or against it.
- 8.3 If a poll is demanded, it shall be taken in such manner and (subject as provided below) either at once or after such adjournment as the chairman directs. The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which it was demanded as at the date it was taken. A demand for a poll shall not prevent the meeting continuing for the transaction of business other than the question on which it has been demanded.
- 8.4 A poll demanded on the election of a chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken at once.
- 8.5 On a show of hands, every person who is present in person and who produces a Note or a Voting Certificate or is a proxy has one vote. On a poll, every such person has one vote for EUR 1,000 in principal amount of Notes so produced or represented by the Voting Certificate so produced or for which he is a proxy or representative. Without prejudice to the obligations of proxies, a person entitled to more than one vote need not use them all or cast them all in the same way.
- 8.6 In case of equality of votes, the chairman shall both on a show of hands and on a poll have a casting vote in addition to any other votes which he may have.

#### 9. EFFECT AND PUBLICATION OF AN EXTRAORDINARY RESOLUTION

9.1 An Extraordinary Resolution shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not present at the meeting, and on all the Couponholders and each of them shall be bound to give effect to it accordingly. The passing of such a resolution shall be conclusive evidence that the circumstances justify it being passed. The Issuer shall give notice of the passing of an Extraordinary Resolution to Noteholders within 14 days but failure to do so shall not invalidate the resolution.

#### 10. MINUTES

10.1 The chairman shall procure that minutes shall be made of all resolutions and proceedings at every meeting and, if purporting to be signed by the chairman of that meeting or of the next succeeding meeting, shall be conclusive evidence of the matters in them. Until the contrary is proved, every meeting for which minutes have been so made and signed shall be deemed to have been duly convened and held and all resolutions passed or proceedings transacted at it to have been duly passed and transacted.

#### 11. WRITTEN RESOLUTION AND ELECTRONIC CONSENT

- 11.1 Subject to the following sentence, a Written Resolution may be contained in one document or in several documents in like form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more of the Noteholders.
- 11.2 For so long as the Notes are in the form of a Permanent Global Note for one or more of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or another clearing system, then, in respect of any resolution proposed by the Issuer:
  - (i) where the terms of the proposed resolution have been notified to the Noteholders through the relevant clearing system(s), the Issuer shall be entitled to rely upon approval of such resolution proposed by the Issuer given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 90 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding (**Electronic Consent**). The Issuer shall not be liable or responsible to anyone for such reliance; and
  - (ii) where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written Resolution has been validly passed, the Issuer shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer by accountholders in the clearing system with entitlements to such Permanent Global Note or, where the accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person for whom such entitlement is ultimately beneficially held, whether such beneficiary holds directly with the accountholder or via one or more intermediaries and provided that, in each case, the Issuer has obtained commercially reasonable evidence to ascertain the validity of such holding and has taken reasonable steps to ensure that such holding does not alter following the giving of such consent or instruction and prior to the effecting of such amendment. Any resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on all Noteholders and Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. As used in this paragraph, commercially reasonable evidence includes any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system, or issued by an accountholder of them or an intermediary in a holding chain, in relation to the holding of interests in the Notes.

- 11.3 Any such certificate or other document shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding for all purposes. Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear's EUCLID or Clearstream, Luxembourg's CreationOnline system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the accountholder of a particular principal or nominal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with the amount of such holding. The Issuer shall not be liable to any person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any certificate or other document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently found to be forged or not authentic.
- 11.4 A Written Resolution and/or Electronic Consent shall take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution. A Written Resolution and/or Electronic Consent will be binding on all Noteholders and holders of Coupons, whether or not they participated in such Written Resolution and/or Electronic Consent.

#### **SCHEDULE 4**

## ADDITIONAL DUTIES OF THE FISCAL AGENT

The Fiscal Agent will comply with the following provisions:

- 1. The Fiscal Agent will inform each of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the **ICSDs**), through the common service provider appointed by the ICSDs to service the Notes (the **CSP**), of the initial issue outstanding amount (**IOA**) for the Notes on or prior to the Closing Date.
- 2. If any event occurs that requires a mark-up or mark down of the records which an ICSD holds for its customers to reflect such customers' interest in the Notes, the Fiscal Agent will (to the extent known to it) promptly provide details of the amount of such mark up or mark down, together with a description of the event that requires it, to the ICSDs (through the CSP) to ensure that the IOA of the Notes remains at all times accurate.
- 3. The Fiscal Agent will at least monthly reconcile its record of the IOA of the Notes with information received from the ICSDs (through the CSP) with respect to the IOA maintained by the ICSDs for the Notes and will promptly inform the ICSDs (through the CSP) of any discrepancies.
- 4. The Fiscal Agent will promptly assist the ICSDs (through the CSP) in resolving any discrepancy identified in the IOA of the Notes.
- 5. The Fiscal Agent will promptly provide to the ICSDs (through the CSP) details of all amounts paid by it under the Notes.
- 6. The Fiscal Agent will (to the extent known to it) promptly provide to the ICSDs (through the CSP) notice of any changes to the Notes that will affect the amount of, or date for, any payment due under the Notes.
- 7. The Fiscal Agent will (to the extent known to it) promptly provide to the ICSDs (through the CSP) copies of all information that is given to the Noteholders.
- 8. The Fiscal Agent will promptly pass on to the Issuer all communications it receives from the ICSDs directly or through the CSP relating to the Notes.
- 9. The Fiscal Agent will (to the extent known to it) promptly notify the ICSDs (through the CSP) of any failure by the Issuer to make any payment or delivery due under the Notes when due.